NV Bekaert SA - Bekaert Group

Corporate Governance Charter

Originally approved by the Board of Directors of NV Bekaert SA on 16 December 2005

Revised by the Board of Directors of NV Bekaert SA on 22 December 2009, 13 November 2014, 28 July 2016, 28 February 2019, 19 December 2019, 12 May 2020, 5 October 2021 and 17 November 2022.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

PART I: STRUCTURE AND ORGANIZATION

- I.1. Company Profile
- I.2. Legal Structure
- I.3. Governance Structure

PART II: BOARD OF DIRECTORS: TERMS OF REFERENCE

- II.1. Role, Responsibilities, Authority
- II.2. Composition
- II.3. Appointment and Evaluation
- II.4. Role of the Chairperson
- II.5. Organization, Decision-making, Representation
- II.6. Conduct Guidance
- II.7. Remuneration and Insurance

PART III: BOARD COMMITTEES: TERMS OF REFERENCE

- III.1. Standing Rules applicable to all Committees
- III.2. Terms of Reference Audit, Risk and Finance Committee ("ARFC")
- III.3. Terms of Reference Nomination and Remuneration Committee ("NRC")

PART IV: BEKAERT EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT: TERMS OF REFERENCE

- IV.1. Role, Responsibilities, Authority
- IV.2. Composition
- IV.3. Appointment
- IV.4. Role of the Chief Executive Officer
- IV.5. Organization, Decision-making, Representation
- IV.6. Conduct Guidance
- IV.7. Remuneration

PART V: SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS

- V.1 Capital and Shares
- V.2. Principal Shareholder
- V.3. Communication with Shareholders
- V.4. General Meetings of Shareholders
- V.5. Dividend Policy

PART VI: EXTERNAL SUPERVISION

- VI.1. Regulatory Supervision
- VI.2. Statutory Auditor

APPENDICES

- 1. Nomination Procedure and Selection Criteria for Directors
- 2. Induction Procedure for New Directors
- 3. Bekaert Code of Conduct
- 4. Bekaert Dealing Code

INTRODUCTION

NV Bekaert SA (the "Company") attaches great value to good corporate governance and is aware that good governance of listed companies is an important factor in investment decisions for all stakeholders of the Company.

As a member of GUBERNA, the Belgian Institute for Directors, the Company is helping to shape a coherent vision of corporate governance based on solid research, cultural norms and practical management needs. The Company thereby does not ignore its history of more than 140 years, and the important role of its long time principal shareholder.

The Company is subject, in descending order of precedence, to applicable laws and regulations (including the Belgian Code on Companies and Associations (the "Companies Code") and Belgian financial legislation and regulation), to its Articles of Association (the "Articles"), to the 2020 Belgian Code on Corporate Governance (the "CG Code"), and to the present Bekaert Corporate Governance Charter (the "CG Charter").

The Company's Board of Directors has adopted the CG Code as the reference code for Bekaert and revised the CG Charter for alignment with the CG Code on 19 December 2019.

The Company complies with the Corporate Governance Principles laid down in the CG Code. In addition, and except as explained in the CG Charter or in the Corporate Governance Statement of its annual report, the Company complies with the Corporate Governance Provisions of the CG Code.

The Articles and the CG Charter, each in its fully updated version, are available on the Company's website at <u>www.bekaert.com</u>.

Most individuals in this document are referred to in masculine. Gender specific references should be interpreted as being gender neutral.



PART I: STRUCTURE AND ORGANIZATION

I.1. COMPANY PROFILE

Bekaert's profile, including its segment reporting, is described in its most recent Shareholders' Guide, which is available from the Investors section of www.bekaert.com.

I.2. LEGAL STRUCTURE

The Company is the ultimate parent company of the Bekaert Group (the "Group"). For purposes of the CG Charter, the term Group includes the Company, its subsidiaries and joint ventures. The joint ventures are an important part of the Group. A list of the subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates is included in the Group's annual report. Whenever the term "Bekaert" is used in the CG Charter, it refers to the Company and/or the Group as appropriate.

The Company's registered office is at Bekaertstraat 2, 8550 Zwevegem (Belgium). Its Group headquarters is located at the same address. The Company's shares are admitted to trading on the regulated market of Euronext Brussels.

I.3. GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Bekaert has adopted the one-tier governance structure: the primary decision-making body of the Company is its Board of Directors (the "Board"), under the leadership of the Chairperson, with the exception of matters reserved by the Companies Code or the Articles to the General Meeting of Shareholders (the "General Meeting") (cf. section V.4.2), and subject to special operational powers delegated by the Board to the Bekaert Group Executive, the Company's executive management body (the "BGE"), under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer (the "CEO") (cf. section IV.1), to the Chairperson (cf. section II.4) and to the CEO (cf. section IV.4.1). At least once every five years, the Board shall review whether the chosen governance structure is still appropriate, and if not, it shall propose a new governance structure to the General Meeting.



PART II: BOARD OF DIRECTORS: TERMS OF REFERENCE

II.1. ROLE, RESPONSIBILITIES, AUTHORITY

II.1.1. Role

The Board is the prime decision-making body of the Company, with the exception of matters reserved by the Companies Code or the Articles to the General Meeting (cf. section V.4.2), and subject to special operational powers delegated by the Board to the BGE (cf. section IV.1).

The underlying objective of decision-making by the Board is to pursue the long term interests of the Company, its shareholders and other stakeholders (e.g. its customers, its employees, the communities in which the Group operates worldwide and society in general).

The Board believes that this involves a primary focus on sustainable value creation.

It is the prime responsibility of the Board, under the leadership of its Chairperson, to determine the strategy and general policy of the Company and the Group, and to monitor the Company's and the Group's operations. The Board also determines the risk appetite of the Company in order to achieve the Company's strategic objectives. It approves the framework of internal control and risk management and monitors the implementation thereof.

Sustainability is a critical link of the overall strategy with specific risks and opportunities. The Board has the responsibility to define governance and oversee development, execution and reporting of the sustainability strategy. The sustainability oversight responsibility has been integrated into the Board and the Board Committees structure (cf. Part III).

The Board has delegated certain special operational powers to the BGE, under the leadership of the CEO. The Board supports the BGE in the fulfilment of its duties and constructively challenges the BGE whenever appropriate. To underscore the division of responsibilities between the Board and the BGE:

- the Chairperson of the Board and the CEO are never the same individual;
- apart from the CEO, who is always nominated for Board membership, all Directors are non-executive, unless otherwise proposed by the Board; and
- the BGE is composed exclusively of individuals with executive responsibilities, unless otherwise proposed by the Board.

II.1.2. Responsibilities

As members of the Board, all Directors are required to:

- engage actively in their duties and be able to make their own sound, objective and independent judgements when discharging their responsibilities;
- provide entrepreneurial leadership of the Group within a framework of prudent and effective controls which enable risk to be assessed and managed;
- set the Group's strategic aims and monitor their realization, ensure that the necessary leadership, human and financial resources are available for the Group to meet its objectives, and review management performance;
- set the Group's values and standards and ensure that its obligations to the shareholders and others are understood and met;
- make sure they receive detailed, accurate and timely information and spend sufficient time studying it carefully so as to acquire and maintain a clear understanding of the key issues relevant to the Group's business;
- take into account the consequences of their decisions for sustainability matters;
- pay attention to corporate social responsibility, gender diversity and diversity in general;

- update their skills and improve their knowledge of the Group to fulfil their roles both on the Board and on the Board Committees they serve on;
- communicate to the Board any information in their possession that could be relevant to the Board's decision-making, and in the case of sensitive or confidential information, members of the Board should consult the Chairperson.

In addition to these general requirements for all Directors, the role of the non-executive Director has the following key elements:

- Strategy: non-executive Directors should constructively challenge and help develop strategy and key policies proposed by the CEO.
- Performance: non-executive Directors should assess the performance of executive management in meeting the agreed goals and objectives, and monitor the reporting of performance.
- Risk: non-executive Directors should satisfy themselves that financial information is accurate and that the financial and other internal controls and systems of risk management are robust.
- People: non-executive Directors are responsible for determining appropriate levels of remuneration of executive management and have a prime role in appointing, removing and planning the succession of BGE members.

Non-executive Directors will be made aware of the extent of their duties at the time of their application, in particular, as to the time commitment involved in carrying out those duties, also taking into account the number and importance of their other commitments. Changes to their other relevant commitments and their new commitments outside Bekaert should be reported to the Chairperson as they arise.

The non-executive Director:

- maintains the highest ethical standards of integrity;
- supports executive management in their leadership of the business while monitoring their conduct;
- questions intelligently, debates constructively, challenges rigorously and decides dispassionately;
- listens sensitively to the views of others, both inside and outside the Board;
- gains the trust and respect of other Board members;
- promotes the highest standards of corporate governance and always seeks compliance with the CG Code.

The non-executive Directors meet at least once a year in the absence of the CEO and the other executives.

II.1.3. Authority

The following powers are reserved to the Board:

- the decision on, and the regular review of, the Company's medium and long-term strategy based on proposals from the BGE, as well as the approval of the operational plans and main policies developed by the BGE to give effect to the approved strategy. This includes the authority to determine the important strategic issues within the Company, to approve plans, budgets and important structural changes (including any material acquisition or disposal of a company or business), and the responsibility for the relationship between the Company and its shareholders. The strategy shall be formulated in close co-operation with the CEO;
- the approval of the framework of internal control and risk management for the Company and the Group set up by the BGE, and the monitoring of the implementation of the framework;
- the adoption of the annual accounts for approval by the General Meeting, and the approval of the annual report. In connection herewith, the Board should:

- take all necessary measures to ensure the integrity and timely disclosure of the financial statements of the Company and the Group and other material financial and non-financial information in accordance with applicable laws;
- ensure that Bekaert presents an integrated view of Bekaert's performance in its annual report and that it contains sufficient information on issues of societal concern and the relevant environmental and social indicators; and
- o supervise the performance of the Statutory Auditor and supervise the internal audit function;
- the election of the Chairperson of the Board, and the division of responsibilities between the Chairperson and the CEO;
- the monitoring and review of the effectiveness of the Committees of the Board of Directors;
- the determination of the structure, powers and duties of the Company's executive management. This includes the appointment, dismissal and remuneration of the CEO and the other members of the BGE. It should also develop a clear delegation policy, in close consultation with the CEO;
- the supervision of the BGE, whereby it should review the BGE's performance and the realisation of the Company's strategic objectives annually against agreed performance measures and targets: the Board will in its supervisory task be guided by the Chairperson assuming the role indicated in section II.4 with the help of the Board Committees described in Part III. The CEO shall inform the Board, in great detail, at the end of each quarter, about the evolution and prospects of the Company. The CEO shall provide the Board at least two times per year with follow-up reports regarding the major strategic programs of the Company; and
- all other powers not delegated to the BGE, to the Chairperson or to the CEO.

The Board will:

- establish a process for the monitoring of Bekaert's compliance with laws and other regulations, as well as for the application of the internal guidelines relating thereto;
- approve a Code of Conduct, setting out the expectations for Bekaert's leadership and employees in terms of responsible and ethical behaviour and monitor the compliance with the Code of Conduct annually;
- ensure that there is a succession plan in place for the Directors, the CEO and the other members of the BGE. The Board should review the succession plan of the CEO and the other members of the BGE periodically.

II.2. COMPOSITION

II.2.1. Size

By law, the Board must consist of a minimum of three Directors. The actual number of Directors is determined by the General Meeting.

The Board strives to be small enough for efficient decision-making and large enough for its Directors to contribute experience and knowledge from their different fields and for changes to the Board's composition to be managed without undue disruption.

At the date of this CG Charter, a majority of Board members are appointed from among candidates proposed by the principal shareholder.

II.2.2. Board competency profile

The Board should through the sum of its Directors, regularly attending the meetings, provide sufficient competencies and expertise in the Group's areas of activity to define the mission and strategies of the Group, to challenge executive management in its implementation of those strategies, to define short and long term budgets and to ensure adequate control over the operational and financial transactions of the Group. The Board should reflect sufficient diversity of skills, background, age and gender.

This means the Board should through its members have ready access to outstanding expertise on:

- the financial and accounting requirements for an international listed company;
- the technological core competences of the Group;
- industrial activities in a global market place;
- marketing and sales;
- the global macro-economic and political environment;
- leadership and people management;
- information technology and digital technology;
- sustainability matters and ESG;
- M&A transactions and portfolio management.

All Directors should uphold the highest standards of integrity and probity.

II.2.3. Selection criteria

The criteria for the selection of candidates relate to the Board competency profile described in section II.2.2, and to the contribution a candidate can make to the Board considering his expertise, interests, experience and willingness and availability to devote sufficient time to his directorship.

For any appointment, the skills, knowledge and experience already present or required on the Board shall be evaluated and, in light of that evaluation, a description of the role and skills, knowledge and experience required shall be prepared.

At the moment of his initial appointment, a Director should be at least 30 years of age and at most 66 years of age.

All members of the Board are non-executive, with the exception of the CEO, unless otherwise proposed by the Board.

II.2.4. Independence requirements

All Directors shall demonstrate independence of mind and shall always act in the best interests of Bekaert.

At least three members of the Board must be independent within the meaning of Article 7:87 of the Companies Code and of the CG Code.

The fact that a Director is not independent within the meaning of Article 7:87 of the Companies Code or of the CG Code does not qualify in any respect the Company's judgment about his independence.

The non-executive Directors should not, as a rule, assume any directorship in any other company (subsidiary or jointly controlled entity) of the Group, or perform any operational action or activity which might cast any doubt on their independent judgment when discussing the operational activities of the Group at Board level. A non-executive Director should not take more than five board memberships in listed companies (inclusive of membership in the Company's Board of Directors).

II.2.5. Gender diversity

In accordance with Article 7:86 of the Companies Code at least one third of the Directors are of the opposite gender.

II.3. APPOINTMENT AND EVALUATION

II.3.1. Nomination and appointment procedure

The nomination process for each candidacy for an office of Director is led by the NRC, which submits a reasoned recommendation to the Board. On the basis of such recommendation, the Board decides which candidates will be nominated to the General Meeting for appointment.

Members of the Board have the legal status of a self-employed person for the purposes of Belgian labour and social security law.

The Nomination Procedure and Selection Criteria for Directors is attached hereto as Appendix 1.

II.3.2. Terms of office

Each Director shall be appointed by a simple majority resolution of the General Meeting, for a maximum term of four years. Each Director can at any time be removed from office by a simple majority resolution of the General Meeting.

Directors retire at the Annual General Meeting of the year in which they reach the age of 69.

Both a physical person and a legal entity can assume a directorship. If a legal entity assumes a directorship, it has to appoint a physical person as its permanent representative, who must himself fulfil all conditions for appointment as a Director and who shall, together with the legal entity, be personally liable for the performance of the office of Director.

A Director whose term has expired can be re-appointed for an indefinite number of new terms, subject to the retirement rule set forth above.

II.3.3. Induction

Newly appointed Directors will receive a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction including an update on the legal and regulatory environment, to ensure their capacity to swiftly contribute to the Board. The induction is not restricted to the Board room but will include visiting sites and meeting senior management.

The Induction Procedure for New Directors is attached hereto as Appendix 2.

II.3.4. Evaluation

The Board, under the lead of the Chairperson, assesses at least every three years its own performance and its interaction with the BGE, as well as its size, composition, functioning and that of its Committees. The evaluation is carried out through a formal process, whether or not externally facilitated, in accordance with a methodology approved by the Board.

Prior to the end of each Board member's term, the NRC, under the lead of the Chairperson, evaluates this Board member's presence at the Board or Board Committee meetings, their commitment and their constructive involvement in discussions and decision-making in accordance with a pre-established and transparent procedure. The NRC also assesses whether the contribution of each Board member is adapted to changing circumstances.

The Board acts on the results of the performance evaluation. Where appropriate, this will involve proposing new Board members for appointment, proposing not to re-appoint existing Board members or taking any measure deemed appropriate for the effective operation of the Board.

The Chairperson remains available at all times to consider suggestions for improvement of the functioning of the Board or the Board Committees.

The non-executive Directors meet at least once a year in the absence of the CEO in order to assess their interaction with executive management.

II.4. ROLE OF THE CHAIRPERSON

The Board shall elect a Chairperson from among its members for a term corresponding to his term as a Director. The Chairperson is re-eligible.

As the position of Chairperson is pivotal in creating the conditions for overall Board and individual Director effectiveness, both inside and outside the Board room, the Chairperson should be appointed on the basis of his knowledge, skills, experience and mediation strength. The Chairperson shall be a person trusted for his professionalism, independence of mind, coaching capabilities, ability to build consensus, and communication and meeting management skills.

The Chairperson of the Board shall function as a contact person of, and an intermediary between all stakeholders of the Company and the Group, including but not limited to the shareholders, the other Directors and, through the CEO, the executive management of the Company and the Group.

The person assuming the role of Chairperson of the Board shall make sure that he is able, on a constant basis, to assume this role. Should the Chairperson of the Board have a conflict of interest in respect of any Board matter, or not be available at a meeting, the longest serving independent Director will assume the function of Chairperson.

Any question a Director might have regarding the Company or the Group in general, or more specifically the management, should be raised to the Chairperson. The Chairperson shall take all necessary steps to have those questions answered and shall communicate such answer as soon as possible to all Directors. The Chairperson has, in principle through the CEO's office, immediate access to all relevant documentation.

Specifically, it is the responsibility of the Chairperson to:

- run the Board and, in consultation with the CEO and the Company Secretary, set its agenda. The
 agenda should take full account of the issues and the concerns of all Board members. Agendas
 should be forward looking and concentrate on strategic matters rather than formalistic approvals of
 proposals that can be suitably delegated to the BGE;
- ensure that the members of the Board receive accurate, timely and clear information, in particular about the Company's performance, to enable the Board to take well-informed decisions, monitor effectively and provide advice to promote the success of the Company. All Board members should receive the same Board information;
- ensure effective communication with shareholders at the General Meeting and ensure that the members of the Board gain a sound understanding of the views of the shareholder (in particular major investors) and other significant stakeholders;
- manage the Board to ensure that sufficient time is allowed for discussion of complex or contentious issues, and where appropriate arrange for informal meetings in advance to enable thorough

preparation for the Board discussion. It is particularly important that non-executive Directors have sufficient time to examine critical issues and are not faced with unrealistic deadlines for decisionmaking. The agenda of the Board should specify which topics are for information, for deliberation or for decision-making purposes;

- provide opportunities for the independent Directors to meet and chair such meetings;
- take the lead in providing a properly prepared induction program for new Directors which is comprehensive, well structured and individually tailored, facilitated by the Company Secretary;
- take the lead in identifying and meeting the development needs of each individual Director, with the support of the Company Secretary facilitating the implementation. It is the responsibility of the Chairperson to address the development needs of the Board as a whole with a view to enhancing its overall effectiveness as a team;
- take the lead in ensuring that the performance of the Board, the Board Committees and the individual Directors is evaluated in accordance with section II.3.4;
- encourage active engagement by all members of the Board.

The Chairperson:

- upholds the highest standards of integrity;
- leads Board discussions promoting constructive debate leading to effective decisions and engendering a climate of trust, allowing for open discussions and constructive challenge;
- promotes effective relationships and open communication, both inside and outside the Board room, between non-executive Directors and executive management;
- leads and promotes effective relationships with the principal shareholder;
- engages with key investors to facilitate communication between the Company and its shareholders, and promotes effective relationships with the shareholders, financial analysts and other stakeholders;
- ensures adequate representation of Bekaert as a group towards diplomatic, economic or political forums; for that purpose the Chairperson has a budget available that is approved and controlled by the ARFC;
- takes the lead in building an effective Board, representing complementary backgrounds and experiences, initiates change and plans succession in Board appointments, subject to Board and shareholders' approval;
- promotes the highest standards of corporate governance and seeks compliance with the CG Code wherever possible;
- ensures that Board Committees are properly structured and effectively run;
- ensures proper communication of Board decisions to the external community (press releases, presentation of results);
- ensures effective implementation of Board decisions;
- establishes a close relationship of trust with the CEO, providing support and advice (in particular with respect to the development of the Company's strategy and strategic initiatives) while fully respecting the executive responsibilities of the CEO;
- ensure effective interaction between the Board and the executive management;
- provides coherent leadership.

Furthermore, the Board has delegated certain special powers to the Chairperson.

II.5. ORGANIZATION, DECISION-MAKING, REPRESENTATION

II.5.1. Board Meetings

The Board has a minimum of six regular meetings each year.

Additional meetings may be called at any time with appropriate notice to address specific needs of the business. The Board tries to have one meeting a year at a Bekaert location in or outside Belgium in order to keep in touch with the operations and the business environment of the Group.

Board meetings are convened by the Chairperson or, if he is not available, by the longest serving independent Director. The person convening the meeting sets its agenda. Each Director can propose agenda items. It is also the responsibility of the Chairperson, assisted by the Company Secretary, to ensure that all members of the Board are properly and timely informed and documented on all items on the agenda. The Directors should thoroughly prepare and actively contribute to the meetings of the Board.

In normal circumstances the convening notices and accompanying documents are circulated to the Directors no later than five working days before the meeting; in the case of urgency this notice period can be shortened.

While the Articles allow attendance and voting by proxy, as well as meetings by means of telephone or video conference, it is understood that face-to-face proceedings are largely to be preferred. Board members are expected to attend Board meetings regularly and in person, and to devote the required amount of time to fulfil their responsibilities.

In order for a Board meeting to be valid, at least half of its members have to be present or represented by proxy.

The Board can pass its resolutions by a simple majority vote. In the case of a tie, the vote of the Chairperson is decisive. Without prejudice to the rules governing Directors' liability, and without prejudice to the right of each Director to have his vote and its reasons recorded in the minutes of the meeting, each Director shall loyally execute the resolutions validly passed by the Board.

The Chairperson and the CEO can invite other members of the BGE or of senior management to attend whole or part of a Board meeting if they consider their presence to be useful.

The Chairperson will be informed of any interactions between Directors and members of the BGE.

The Board and its individual members are entitled to request the assistance and/or presence of internal experts, as well as of independent external experts at the expense of the Company.

Minutes are taken at every Board meeting, circulated to the Directors as quickly as practicable, and approved at the following meeting. The minutes should summarize the discussions, specify the decision taken and note diverging views expressed by Board members.

II.5.2. Board Committees

In order to fulfil its role and responsibilities efficiently, the Board has set up two advisory Committees: an Audit, Risk and Finance Committee, and a Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The terms of reference of the Board Committees are set forth in Part III of the CG Charter.

The Board's oversight responsibility for ESG and cybersecurity is integrated into the Board and the Board Committees structure.

The Board may set up additional advisory committees to deal with specific matters if the need arises.

II.5.3. Company Secretary

The Board appoints a Company Secretary, who assists and advises the Board, the Chairs of the Board Committees, and all Board members in exercising their general and specific roles and duties, and has the necessary skills and knowledge of corporate governance matters.

The core responsibilities of the Company Secretary include (i) ensuring that the corporate bodies comply with their requirements under the law, the Articles, the CG Code and the CG Charter, (ii) preparing the CG Charter and the Corporate Governance Statement, (iii) ensuring the continuous development of governance, in line with best market practices and the needs of the Company, (iv) ensuring a good information flow within the Board and its Committees and between the BGE and non-executive Directors, (v) organizing the General Meetings and the Board meetings, (vi) ensuring that the essence of the discussions and decisions at Board meetings are accurately captured in the minutes, (vii) facilitating induction and assisting with professional development as required, and (viii) acting as secretary of the General Meetings, the Board, and the Board Committees (or ensuring proper replacement as required).

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board and is accountable to the Board through the Chairperson on all matters relating to his core duties. He has the authority and the duty to use adequate means in order to efficiently fulfil his responsibilities.

The Company Secretary is bound by a duty of discretion, and should observe the utmost confidentiality with respect to the proceedings, the resolutions and the documentation of the Board and its Committees.

Individual Board members have access to the Company Secretary.

II.5.4. Representation

For matters belonging to the authority of the Board, the Company shall be validly represented towards third parties by the joint signature of two Directors.

The Company is also validly represented towards third parties by special proxyholders within the limits of their mandate.

II.6. CONDUCT GUIDANCE

The members of the Board owe their duties towards the Company as a whole; hence each Director should serve the interests of the Company, taking into account the proper interests of all its present and future shareholders, and place it above their own.

The Directors have the duty to look after the interests of all shareholders on an equivalent basis. Each Director should act according to the principles of reasonableness and fairness. When the Board takes a decision, board members should disregard their personal interests.

II.6.1. Applicability of General Conduct Policies

The members of the Board should fully comply with:

- the Bekaert Code of Conduct attached hereto as <u>Appendix 3;</u>
- the Bekaert Dealing Code attached hereto as <u>Appendix 4</u>.

II.6.2. Conflicts of interest in relation to Directors

Directors should not directly nor indirectly compete or cause third parties to compete with the Company or the Group. They should not use business opportunities intended for the Company for their own benefit.

Each Director should, in particular, be attentive to conflicts of interest that may arise between Bekaert, the Directors, the members of the BGE, its principal shareholder and other shareholders. The Directors who are proposed by the principal shareholder should ensure that the interests and intentions of this shareholder are sufficiently clear and communicated to the Board in a timely manner.

To the extent possible, Directors should try to avoid direct or indirect conflicts of interest between themselves, or individuals, legal entities or organizations to which they are closely linked, and the Company or the Group. Without prejudice to the provisions on conflicts of interest of Article 7:96 of the Companies Code, each Director should inform the Board of any conflict of interest that could in his view affect his capacity of judgement. In particular, at the beginning of each Board or Committee meeting, Directors should declare whether they have any conflict of interest regarding the items on the agenda.

The Board should act in such a manner that a conflict of interest, or the appearance of such a conflict, is avoided. In the possible case of a conflict of interest, the Board should, under the lead of the Chairperson, decide which procedure it will follow to protect the interests of Bekaert and all its shareholders. In the next annual report, the Board should explain why they chose such procedure. However, where there is a substantial conflict of interest, the Board should carefully consider communicating as soon as possible on the procedure followed, the most important considerations and the conclusions.

Each Director should each year provide the Company Secretary with a completed questionnaire describing material transactions or other material contractual relationships between himself, or individuals, legal entities or organizations to which he is closely linked, and the Company or the Group, and any other possible source of conflict of interest he might have had in the previous year.

II.6.3. Related party transactions

If a decision is to be taken or a transaction is to be carried out that falls within the purview of the Board and that relates to a related party within the meaning of the International Accounting Standard 24, the procedure set out in Article 7:97 of the Companies Code must in principle be applied. The procedure also applies to certain proposals that the Board submits to the General Meeting.

II.6.4. Duty of confidentiality

Each Director is bound by a duty of discretion, and should observe the utmost confidentiality with respect to the proceedings, the resolutions and the documentation of the Board and its Committees. It is expressly understood that, except in case of a specific mandate by the Board to act as a spokesperson of the Company for a specific matter related to the activities and responsibilities of the Board, only the

Chairperson and/or the CEO, or upon their delegation the Corporate Communication Manager, shall act as spokesperson of the Company.

Directors should not use the information obtained in their capacity as Director for purposes other than for the exercise of their mandate. Directors should handle the confidential information received in their capacity as a Director with utmost care.

II.7. REMUNERATION AND INSURANCE

II.7.1. Remuneration Policy

The remuneration policy is prepared by the NRC and submitted by the Board to the Annual General Meeting for approval. The Company will take the necessary steps to address concerns expressed by its shareholders and consider adapting its remuneration policy accordingly.

II.7.2. Insurance

The Company ensures that the Directors are covered by a Directors & Officers Liability insurance policy corresponding to best practice, at the Company's expense.



PART III: BOARD COMMITTEES: TERMS OF REFERENCE

III.1. STANDING RULES APPLICABLE TO ALL COMMITTEES

III.1.1. Role, responsibilities, authority

As a general rule, the role of the Board Committees is to advise the full Board on the matters belonging to their respective jurisdiction. Unless specifically otherwise provided in the CG Charter or the Companies Code, the Board Committees do not have the power of decision, which is the privilege of the collegial Board.

The members of each Board Committee are proposed by the Chairperson and appointed by a simple majority vote of the Board for a term that corresponds to their term of office as a Director. Each Committee is composed exclusively of non-executive Directors.

Minutes are taken at every Committee meeting, circulated to all members of the Board as quickly as practicable, and approved at the next Committee meeting. The Board shall receive oral feedback from each Board Committee at the next Board meeting.

Each of the Committees, through its Chairperson, shall have the right to invite other Directors, members of the BGE, or other management employees to its meetings at its own discretion. Each of the Committees shall have the right to request the assistance and/or presence of independent external experts at the expense of the Company. The Company Secretary shall co-ordinate such requests for external assistance.

III.1.2. Chairperson

The NRC is chaired by the Chairperson of the Board. The Audit, Risk and Finance Committee appoints its chairperson.

Should the Chairperson of a Committee have a conflict of interest in respect of any Committee business, or not be available at a meeting, the longest serving independent member of the Committee (or, should the Audit, Risk and Finance Committee include only one independent Director, the Chairperson of the Board) will assume the Chair.

III.2. TERMS OF REFERENCE AUDIT, RISK AND FINANCE COMMITTEE ("ARFC")

III.2.1. Role and responsibilities

In addition to the duties specified by the Companies Code, the ARFC has the following duties:

- monitoring the financial reporting process, including:
 - reviewing the Company's annual accounts and the consolidated annual accounts, and the Company's annual report and the consolidated annual report before submission to the Board;
 - reviewing Bekaert's half-year results and quarterly trading updates before submission to the Board;
 - advising the Board on appropriate financial procedures;
 - o advising the Board on Bekaert's financial position, indebtedness, and accounting rules;
 - o discussing significant financial reporting issues with the BGE and the Statutory Auditor;
- monitoring the ESG disclosures; including:
 - reviewing the framework and standards to use for ESG disclosures;

- reviewing whether the right processes and controls are in place to ensure that ESG metrics and disclosures are accurate, complete and consistent;
- monitoring the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems, with a view to
 ensuring that the main risks are properly identified, managed and disclosed according to the
 framework adopted by the Board (including the review of any significant findings of internal
 investigations);
- establishing an independent internal audit function with resources and skills adapted to the Bekaert's nature, size and complexity;
- reviewing the internal audit function's work program and effectiveness, making recommendations on the appointment or removal of the head of internal audit and on the budget allocated to internal audit, and monitoring management's compliance with the findings and recommendations of the ARFC;
- monitoring the statutory audit of the Company's annual accounts and the consolidated annual accounts, and any follow-up on any questions and recommendations raised by the Statutory Auditor, including:
 - making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or reappointment of the Statutory Auditor, the Statutory Auditor's remuneration, and any questions related to the Statutory Auditor's resignation or dismissal;
 - discussing with the Statutory Auditor the nature and the scope of the audit, any problems or reservations arising from the audit, and any matters which the Statutory Auditor wishes to discuss;
 - reviewing the effectiveness of the external audit process, and management's responsiveness to the recommendations made in the Statutory Auditor's management letter;
- assisting the Board in fulfilling its monitoring responsibilities in respect of control in the broadest sense, including risks, and in particular monitoring the responsiveness of the management to the findings of the internal audit function and to the recommendations made in the external auditor's management letter; and
- adopting and reviewing specific arrangements for raising concerns to the ARFC in confidence about possible improprieties in financial reporting or other matters, agreeing on arrangements whereby staff may inform the Chairperson of the ARFC directly, and, if deemed necessary, making arrangements for the proportionate and independent investigation of such matters and for the appropriate follow-up actions.

The ARFC prepares the relevant proceedings and resolutions of the Board, and submits its recommendations to the Board.

Pursuant to a specific delegation from the Board, the ARFC is authorized:

- to approve the annual budget for the functioning of the Board, including an estimate of the remuneration to be paid to the Board members (subject to approval by the General Meeting) as well as all expenses related to the Chairperson, the Chairperson's office and the functioning and organization of the Board meetings, and to review on an annual basis the actual expenses incurred;
- to approve a policy for the reimbursement of Board member expenses, and to ensure compliance with such policy;
- to approve a formal policy on the non-audit services of the Statutory Auditor, with a view to ensuring adequate independence, and to ensure compliance with such policy;
- to approve the charter of the internal audit function.

III.2.2. Membership

The ARFC is composed of at least three and maximum five non-executive Directors, including the Chairperson of the Board and at least one independent Director who has the required competence in accounting and auditing. The ARFC appoints its chairperson, and the Company Secretary acts as its secretary.

The CEO is not a member of the ARFC but has a standing invitation to attend its meetings.

III.2.3. Meetings

The ARFC meets at least four times a year.

Matters relating to the audit plan and any issues arising from the audit process should be placed on the agenda of every ARFC meeting and should be discussed specifically with the external and internal auditors at least once a year.

The external auditor and the head of internal audit function should have direct and unrestricted access to the Chairperson and the Chairperson of the ARFC.

III.3. TERMS OF REFERENCE NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE ("NRC")

III.3.1. Role and responsibilities

In addition to the duties specified by the Companies Code, the NRC advises the Board on:

- the remuneration policy for the Directors, the CEO and the other members of the BGE;
- the individual remuneration of the Directors;
- the individual remuneration of the CEO and the other members of the BGE, including base remuneration, variable remuneration and other components;
- the remuneration policy for senior management;
- the appointment or reappointment of Directors, the CEO and the other members of the BGE;
- the annual review of the BGE's performance and on the realisation of the Company's strategy against agreed performance measures and targets; and
- generally, any remuneration or appointment related proposals to be submitted by the Board to the General Meeting.

The NRC ensures that sufficient and regular attention is paid to the succession of Directors, the CEO and the other members of the BGE. The NRC also ensures that appropriate talent development programs and programs to promote diversity in leadership are in place. The NRC should prepare plans for the orderly succession of Directors.

In addition, the NRC prepares the remuneration report, to be included by the Board in the annual report as part of the Corporate Governance Statement, and explains the remuneration report to the Annual General Meeting.

The CEO informs the NRC on:

- compliance with the above-mentioned remuneration policies;
- his evaluation of the operation and performance of the BGE;
- the overall personnel cost evolution of the Company and the Group;
- material collective bargaining agreements; and
- succession planning for the BGE and senior management.

The NRC prepares the relevant proceedings and resolutions of the Board, and submits its recommendations to the Board.

The Board shall not propose or co-opt, as the case may be, any candidate for an office of Director who has not been recommended by the NRC.

The Board shall not appoint any member of the BGE nor decide on a remuneration and compensation package for members of the BGE, without the support of the CEO (excluding his own appointment and his own remuneration and compensation package).

Senior management employees, other than BGE members, will be appointed by the CEO only.

III.3.2. Membership

The NRC is composed of at least three and maximum five non-executive Directors, a majority of whom are independent, and must have the required competence in the field of remuneration policy. The NRC is chaired by the Chairperson of the Board, and the Company Secretary acts as its secretary.

The CEO is not a member of the NRC but has a standing invitation to attend its meetings. The CEO should excuse himself from the meeting whenever the NRC has to discuss his own remuneration or evaluation. He has an advisory vote whenever the NRC discusses the remuneration of the other members of the BGE or of senior management.

III.3.3. Meetings

The NRC meets at least four times a year.



PART IV: BEKAERT EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT: TERMS OF REFERENCE

IV.1. ROLE, RESPONSIBILITIES, AUTHORITY

The BGE acts under the supervision of the Board and is in charge of implementing the decisions of the Board.

The responsibilities of the BGE, under the leadership of the CEO, include:

- the running of the Company;
- the implementation of internal controls (i.e. mechanisms to identify, assess, manage and monitor financial and other risks) without prejudice to the Board's monitoring role, based on the framework approved by the Board;
- the presentation of complete, timely, reliable and accurate financial statements to the Board, in accordance with the applicable accounting standards and policies of the Company;
- the preparation of the required disclosure of the financial statements and other material financial and non-financial information;
- the presentation of a balanced and understandable assessment of Bekaert's financial situation to the Board; and
- the provision, in a timely fashion, of all necessary information to the Board for it to carry out its duties.

The BGE shall formulate proposals to the Board in relation to the Company's strategy and its implementation. The BGE shall have sufficient latitude to implement the approved strategy in accordance with the Company's risk appetite.

The Board has delegated special operational powers to the BGE, under the leadership of the CEO.

The CEO functions as the prime interface between the Board and the BGE.

IV.2. COMPOSITION

The BGE is composed of members representing global business units and global functions. The BGE is chaired by the CEO.

IV.3. APPOINTMENT

Each member of the BGE is appointed by a simple majority resolution of the Board, in consultation with the CEO, acting on the recommendation of the NRC, and taking into account the need for a balanced executive team, in accordance with a contract that, unless otherwise agreed, is entered into for an indefinite period of time subject to early termination and severance pay provisions.

Both a physical person and a legal entity can assume membership of the BGE. If a legal entity assumes membership of the BGE, it has to appoint a physical person as its permanent representative, who must himself fulfil all conditions for appointment as a member of the BGE.

IV.4. ROLE OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

IV.4.1. Role and responsibilities

It is the CEO's primary responsibility to propose strategic plans and policies to the Board, and to ensure the implementation of those strategic plans and policies as approved by the Board. The CEO has been delegated certain special powers by the Board of Directors.

The CEO is responsible for the attainment of the Group's mission and its objectives in terms of business growth, profitability and customer service levels. His leadership inspires the employees to execute effectively all long and short term action plans in accordance with the values guiding the Group.

IV.4.1.1. Relationship with the Board and the Chairperson

The CEO should

- establish an effective relationship with the Board and the Chairperson;
- interact with the Board to identify and capture new business opportunities;
- consult with the Chairperson regarding the preparation of the annual Board calendar, and the agendas and documents for Board meetings;
- provide the Chairperson with timely, accurate and relevant information for distribution to the Board to enable informed consideration of the Group's performance prospects;
- perform any functions and exercise any powers delegated by the Board;
- refer any transaction outside the delegated authority to the Board for approval;
- advise the Board promptly of any adverse developments in relation to the Group and/or its legal and operating environments.

IV.4.1.2. Leadership

The CEO should

- provide comprehensive advice and information to the Board and support the Board's corporate governance activities;
- implement decisions of the Board;
- promote organizational change related to the Group's mission;
- engage and energize the workforce to achieve optimal, sustainable performance;
- encourage innovation and compliance;
- instil a culture that is aligned with the approved strategy, mission, values, objectives, policies and procedures;
- foster open communication and develop individuals' capabilities.

IV.4.1.3. Knowledge sharing and communication

The CEO's role is to:

- act as an interface between the Board and executive management;
- ensure that the Board and executive management have accurate, valid, relevant and timely information;
- interface between the Group and the market place and community with a consistent communication strategy;

- ensure that the Group and its mission, programs, products and services are consistently presented in a strong, positive image to all its stakeholders;
- ensure sufficient contact with major customers, partners, suppliers and other important stakeholders for the Group;
- carry out the adequate representation of Bekaert as a group towards political, economic, social and diplomatic forums.

IV.4.1.4. Decision making

The CEO's role is to:

- formulate policies and planning recommendations for consideration by the Board;
- take and/or approve all actions and initiatives required to implement decisions of the Board;
- allocate resources within the Group;
- decide or guide courses of action in operations by executive management;
- ensure full support of the BGE for the above.

IV.4.1.5. Program, product and service delivery

The CEO's role, in full cooperation with and with the full support from the BGE, is to:

- approve and oversee the design, manufacture, sales, marketing, promotion, delivery and quality of programs, products and services;
- acquire sufficient resources and capabilities for the Group's operations and finance its products and programs adequately;
- ensure that the corporate brand and reputation of the Group are continuously enhanced.

IV.4.1.6. Strategic management

The CEO's role, in full consultation with the BGE, is to:

- drive the development and implementation of strategic, tactical and action plans;
- oversee the Group's operations and ensure that these are aligned with and comply with the strategy, mission, values, objectives, policies and procedures approved by the Board;
- monitor the external and operating environments for trends that may provide opportunities or threats for the Group and advise the Board accordingly;
- ensure that executive management works in a self-confident and trusting environment.

IV.4.1.7. Human resource management

The CEO's role is to:

- ensure the effective management of the Group's employees according to the approved personnel policies and procedures in compliance with current laws and regulations;
- encourage cooperation;
- utilize individuals' skills and remove obstacles from team performance;
- attract and retain people with skills, attributes and experience to meet existing and future organizational requirements;
- sustain an environment that encourages individuals to achieve personal and professional growth.

IV.4.1.8. Financial, tax, risk, and facilities management

The CEO's role, in full consultation with the BGE, is to:

- recommend yearly recurring and capital expenditure budgets for Board approval;
- manage the Group's resources efficiently and effectively and in accordance with the strategic plan, annual budget, laws and regulations;
- monitor financial and operational performance and ensure that all reporting is in accordance with Board and statutory requirements;
- implement a strategic, comprehensive and systematic internal control and risk management process throughout the Group.

IV.4.2. Appointment and term of office

The CEO is appointed in his capacity of head of the executive management by a simple majority resolution of the Board, acting on the recommendation of the NRC, in accordance with a contract that, unless otherwise agreed, is entered into for an indefinite period of time subject to early termination and severance pay provisions.

The CEO selection process is led by the NRC. All steps should be sufficiently documented and reported to the Board.

As the CEO is appointed in his capacity of Director in accordance with section II.3.2, he bears the title of Managing Director. He can at any time be removed from the Board by a simple majority resolution of the General Meeting.

IV.5. ORGANIZATION, DECISION-MAKING, REPRESENTATION

The BGE meets in principle in a two-day session every month, in accordance with a calendar prepared each year by the CEO. Additional meetings may be called by the CEO at his discretion.

Each BGE meeting is convened by the CEO, who sets its agenda. Each BGE member can propose agenda items. It is also the responsibility of the CEO to ensure that all members of the BGE are properly and timely informed and documented on all items on the agenda. The members should thoroughly prepare and actively contribute to the meetings of the BGE.

In order for a BGE meeting to be valid, half of its members have to be present or represented by proxy.

The BGE acts as a collegial body. It can pass its resolutions by a simple majority vote. However, in case of a deadlock in the BGE, the vote of the CEO is decisive. Without prejudice to the rules governing BGE members' liability, and without prejudice to the right of each member of the BGE to have his vote and its reasons recorded in the minutes of the meeting, each member of the BGE shall loyally execute the resolutions validly passed by the BGE.

The CEO can invite other members of senior management to attend whole or part of a BGE meeting if he considers their presence to be useful.

The BGE is entitled to request the assistance and/or presence of internal experts, as well as of independent external experts at the expense of the Company.

The BGE appoints a secretary, who assists and advises the BGE and its members in exercising their general and specific roles and duties.

Minutes are taken at every BGE meeting, circulated to the members as quickly as practicable, and approved at the following meeting. A copy of the minutes is sent to the Chairperson of the Board.

For matters belonging to the authority of the BGE, the Company shall be validly represented towards third parties by the joint signature of two members of the BGE.

IV.6. CONDUCT GUIDANCE

The members of the BGE owe their duties towards the Company as a whole; hence each such member should serve the interests of the Company, taking into account the proper interests of all its present and future shareholders, and place it above their own.

The members of the BGE have the duty to look after the interests of all shareholders on an equivalent basis. Each member of the BGE should act according to the principles of reasonableness and fairness. When the BGE takes a decision, members of the BGE should disregard their personal interests.

IV.6.1. Applicability of General Conduct Policies

The members of the BGE should fully comply with:

- the Bekaert Code of Conduct attached hereto as <u>Appendix 3</u>;
- the Bekaert Dealing Code attached hereto as <u>Appendix 4</u>.

IV.6.2. Conflicts of interest in relation to the members of the BGE

Members of the BGE should not directly nor indirectly compete or cause third parties to compete with the Company or the Group. They should not use business opportunities intended for the Company for their own benefit.

Each member of the BGE should, in particular, be attentive to conflicts of interest that may arise between Bekaert, its Directors, the members of the BGE, its principal shareholder and other shareholders.

To the extent possible, members of the BGE should try to avoid direct or indirect conflicts of interest between themselves, or individuals, legal entities or organizations to which they are closely linked, and the Company or the Group.

The BGE should act in such a manner that a conflict of interest, or the appearance of such a conflict, is avoided.

Each member of the BGE should inform the BGE of any conflict of interest that could in his view affect his capacity of judgement. In particular, at the beginning of each BGE meeting, members of the BGE should declare whether they have any conflict of interest regarding the items on the agenda. If a member of the BGE has a direct or indirect interest of a proprietary nature that conflicts with a resolution or operation that is within the powers of the BGE, the CEO shall refer the matter to the Board for decision with a proposed resolution.

Each member of the BGE should each year provide the Company Secretary with a completed questionnaire describing material transactions or other material contractual relationships between himself, or individuals, legal entities or organizations to which he is closely linked, and the Company or the Group, and any other possible source of conflict of interest he might have had in the previous year.

Members of the BGE shall fully and exclusively invest in the exercise of their duties within the Company and the Group. They may assume directorships in other Group companies (subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates) subject to Board approval on the motion of the CEO. However, and except for positions in the private (non-commercial, not-remunerated) sphere, they should not accept any office as a director or any other function in any organization that does not belong to the Group without the prior approval of the Chairperson on the motion of the CEO.

To the extent relevant, the provisions regarding conflicts of interest of the Directors *mutatis mutandis* apply to the members of the BGE.

IV.6.3. Related party transactions

Reference is made to Section II.6.3.

IV.6.4. Duty of confidentiality

Each member of the BGE is bound by a duty of discretion, and should observe the utmost confidentiality with respect to the proceedings, the resolutions and the documentation of the BGE.

The provisions regarding the duty of confidentiality of the Directors *mutatis mutandis* apply to the members of the BGE.

IV.7. REMUNERATION

The remuneration policy for the CEO and the other members of the BGE is prepared by the NRC and submitted by the Board to the Annual General Meeting for approval. The Company will take the necessary steps to address concerns expressed by its shareholders and consider adapting its remuneration policy accordingly.



PART V: SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS

V.1. CAPITAL AND SHARES

The Company's registered capital is represented by shares without par value. The current amount of the registered capital and the current number of shares are mentioned in the Articles.

The shares are in registered or dematerialized form.

An owner of fully-paid registered shares can request their conversion into dematerialized shares at the Company's expense.

An owner of dematerialized shares can request their conversion into registered shares at the Company's expense.

Shareholders wishing to convert their shares as aforesaid should contact their financial institution. Bekaert's legal department is available by telephone (+32 56 76 66 81) or by email (registered.shares@bekaert.com) to answer any questions in this respect.

In accordance with the Act of 14 December 2005 on the abolition of bearer securities, the Bekaert bearer shares for which no rightful owners came forward before or on 2 October 2015, were sold by the Company. The proceeds from the sale were transferred to the Deposit and Consignments Fund. From 1 January 2016 onwards, rightful owners can claim from the Deposit and Consignments Fund restitution of the amounts derived from the sale after recovery of a fine.

V.2. PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDER

V.2.1. History

The Company was founded by Leon Leander Bekaert in 1880.

Successive generations of Bekaert family members have provided a stable reference shareholding ever since.

V.2.2. Principal shareholder

According to notifications received under the Act of 2 May 2007 on the disclosure of significant participations (the Transparency Act), Stichting Administratiekantoor Bekaert is the principal shareholder of the Company. The holdings of Company shares and voting rights notified by the principal shareholder are set forth in the Investors section of the Company's website <u>www.bekaert.com</u>.

The number and the identity of the Directors appointed from among candidates nominated by the principal shareholder, their principal occupation, Board seniority, Board Committee membership and remuneration are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Statement of the annual report. Any material related party transactions between the Company and its Directors are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group's executive management does not include any member related to the principal shareholder.

V.2.3. Other major shareholders

In addition to the disclosure thresholds of 5% and each multiple of 5% the Company has included the thresholds of 3% and 7.50% in its Articles. Any transparency notification outstanding at any time is set forth in the Investors section of the Company's website <u>www.bekaert.com</u>.

V.3. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

V.3.1. Website

A permanent tool of communication is available through www.bekaert.com.

V.3.2. Investor relations

The Company organizes an Investor Relations function which ensures adequate communication with existing and potential investors.

Several group and individual meetings are held with financial analysts and investors. Those meetings provide information on financial results and corporate strategy.

The annual report is available on the Company's website well in advance of the Annual General Meeting, in Dutch and English, at www.bekaert.com and can be downloaded.

The Company recognizes that the continuous support of the principal shareholder, and the resulting stability in its shareholding, are a beneficial factor for its development and its prosperity, which is to the benefit of all shareholders of the Company.

The Board is therefore attentive to the appreciation and the signals that it receives from the principal shareholder, and maintains a constructive dialogue with them. Twice a year, this constructive dialogue is externalized through the organization of a "Principal Shareholder Day", during which the Chairperson, the Board and the CEO on the one hand and the principal shareholder on the other hand can exchange their thoughts about the Group.

The Board encourages the principal shareholder to clearly express its strategic objectives to the Board in a timely manner, to make a considered use of its position, and to take special care to prevent conflicts of interest and to respect the rights and interests of minority shareholders.

Within the framework of its task to foster sound investor relations, the Board shall ensure that shareholders having declared a shareholding of at least 10% under the transparency rules are in this respect treated on the same footing as the principal shareholder.

V.3.3. Discretion

The Board and the BGE, and each of its members, shall at all times ensure that all shareholders of the Company are treated equally. All information about the Company shall be communicated to all shareholders

at the same time and in the same manner. In this respect, the Directors who are in a direct or indirect manner related or linked to the principal shareholder shall be specifically aware of their duty of discretion.

V.4. GENERAL MEETINGS OF SHAREHOLDERS

V.4.1. Date and place

The Articles stipulate that the Annual General Meeting shall be held at 10:30 a.m. on the second Wednesday in May.

Extraordinary or Special General Meetings of Shareholders may be convened as the Board deems necessary.

The Investors section of the Company's website describes the shareholders' rights to participate in, and vote at, General Meetings, and contains a timetable on periodic information and General Meetings.

V.4.2. Powers

The following powers are reserved by law to the General Meeting:

- the appointment, the dismissal and the remuneration of Directors;
- the appointment, the dismissal and the remuneration of the Statutory Auditor;
- the discharge to the Directors and to the Statutory Auditor for the performance of their duties, and the filing of the *actio mandati*;
- the approval of the annual accounts;
- the appropriation of profit (including the dividend);
- amendments to the Articles;
- capital increase or decrease;
- the authorization to the Board to increase the capital (authorized capital);
- the authorization to the Board to purchase Company shares, and related transactions.

V.4.3. Procedure

The Chairperson of the Board of Directors chairs the Annual General Meeting.

The meeting can only consider and adopt resolutions on the items appearing on the agenda, but ample time is allowed for questions.

All shares carry the same rights and each share entitles the holder to one vote.

One or more shareholders holding together at least 3% of the share capital are entitled to request items to be included in the agenda.

Minutes of the Annual General Meeting are taken and approved at the Meeting. The minutes, including the results of the votes, are posted on the Company's website as quickly as practicable after each General Meeting.

V.5. DIVIDEND POLICY

Principle

It is the policy of the Board to propose a profit appropriation to the Annual General Meeting which, insofar as the profit permits, provides a stable or growing dividend while maintaining an adequate level of cash flow in the Company for investment and self-financing in order to support future growth. In practice, this means that the Company seeks to maintain a pay-out ratio of around 40% of the result for the period attributable to the Group over the longer term.



PART VI: EXTERNAL SUPERVISION

VI.1. REGULATORY SUPERVISION

FSMA

The Company, as a Belgian company the shares of which are admitted to trading on the regulated market of Euronext Brussels, is subject to the regulatory supervision by the Financial Services and Markets Authority ("FSMA"; www.fsma.be), one of two supervisory authorities of the Belgian financial sector.

Euronext Brussels

The Company's shares are admitted to trading on the regulated market of Euronext Brussels (www.euronext.com). As such the Company is subject to the Euronext Brussels' rules and supervision.

VI.2. STATUTORY AUDITOR

VI.2.1. External Audit

The Company appoints its Statutory Auditor in accordance with the Companies Code for a three-year, renewable term of office.

The consolidated Group accounts are reviewed by the same auditor. The Group recognizes the importance of a relationship of trust with its Statutory Auditor, and therefore values consistency in approach and continuity of highly qualified, responsible external auditors.

The renewal of the term will be subject to a thorough review of the quality of service on a worldwide basis and competitiveness and applicable laws and regulations (including the EU Audit Regulation). The individual auditors should in any event not be appointed for more than three terms of three years. The worldwide association they belong to is not subject to this limitation.

The individual consolidated Group companies will for efficiency and practical communication purposes in principle select the same worldwide association as their local statutory auditor.

The joint ventures and associates decide independently on their statutory auditors, but the Company will ensure sufficient quality to guarantee adequate IFRS reporting and sufficient comfort for the Group Statutory Auditor and the Board.

VI.2.2. Reporting by Statutory Auditor

The Statutory Auditor has regular meetings (at least two per year) with the Chairperson, with the CEO and the CFO, and with the ARFC.

VI.2.3. Supervision of Statutory Auditor

The Statutory Auditor is subject to the rules of the IBR (Instituut van de Bedrijfsrevisoren).



The provision of non-audit services by a Statutory Auditor is either forbidden (e.g. strategic advice) or subject to approval by the ARFC. In general, non-audit services cannot represent more than the audit fees as approved by the General Meeting (certain exceptions apply).

Appendix 1. Nomination Procedure and Selection Criteria for Directors

When a Director's office is scheduled to become available, the NRC should discuss the following elements in order to allow sufficient time for the nomination process:

- the intention to recommend to the Board to add a new Director, or to replace or re-appoint an incumbent Director;
- the need for a non-executive or executive Director;
- the independence requirements (cf. section II.2.4 of the CG Charter);
- the competency profile of the individual and the selection criteria;
- the expected timetable.

The NRC should make a reasoned recommendation to the Board.

When dealing with a new appointment, the Chairperson should ensure that, before considering the candidate, the Board has received sufficient information such as the candidate's curriculum vitae, an assessment of the candidate based on the candidate's initial interview(s), a list of the positions currently held by the candidate and, if applicable, any necessary information about the candidate's independence.

When considering proposing the former CEO as a Director, the Board ensures that the necessary safeguards are in place so that the new CEO has the required autonomy. The Board also carefully considers the implications (positive and negative) of such a decision.

The Board makes proposals to the General Meeting for the (re)appointment of Directors. These proposals should include a recommendation from the Board. Any proposal should specify the proposed term of the mandate, which should not exceed four years. It should include relevant information on the candidate's professional qualifications together with a list of the positions the candidate already holds. The Board will indicate which candidates satisfy the independence criteria as set out in the Code.

The Board should propose the General Meeting to vote on each proposed appointment separately.

Appendix 2. Induction Procedure for New Directors

The induction program for a new Director comprises:

- a formal meeting with the Chairperson;
- a formal meeting with the CEO covering at least the strategic guidelines the Group is currently implementing, the main challenges in the short and longer term for the Group and any items the new Director might have put on the agenda;
- a formal meeting with each of the members of the BGE, who will give an overview of their field of activity, business challenges and opportunities, major projects under way and key performance indicators;
- a visit to the Group's headquarters including an extensive overview of the Group's product range in the Company's visitors centre;
- a formal meeting with the Statutory Auditor;
- a formal meeting with the Company Secretary for an introduction to the CG Charter, an update on the legal and regulatory environment, the Group's D&O insurance policy and all elements affecting the new Director's personal position by taking office;
- any specific item the new Director requests with the Chairperson's consent.

The Director will furthermore participate in plant visits and updates of IFRS rules as they are organized on a regular basis for all Directors.



Appendix 3. Bekaert Code of Conduct



TABLE OF CONTENTS



MESSAGE FROM THE CEO 05 Message from the CEO



OUR VALUES AND MISSION 07 Our values

Our mission



KEY LEADERSHIP BEHAVIORS 09 Our 8 key Bekaert leadership

behaviors



OUR EMPLOYEES

11 Non-discrimination Health and safety Employee communication Child and forced labor Freedom of association Compliance with legislation



OUR PARTNERS

13 Business partner relationships Shareholder relationships Community relationships



THE COMMITMENT OF ALL EMPLOYEES

15 Conflict of interest Insider dealing Integrity of our records Data privacy protection Confidentiality Use of company resources



DEALING WITH STAKEHOLDERS

17 Dealing with colleagues Dealing with customers & business partners Dealing with government officials



COMPLIANCE MONITORING

Raising an integrity concern
 Monitoring



DECLARATION OF COMPLIANCE

21 Declaration of compliance



CASES

- 23 Case 1: IT Security
- 24 Case 2: Safety, Health and Environment
- 25 Case 3: Anti-trust
- 26 Case 4: Quality
- 27 Case 5: Procurement conflict of interest
- 28 Case 6: Capex



IMPLEMENTATION OF THIS CODE

31 Implementation scope

MESSAGE FROM THE CEO



MESSAGE FROM THE CEO

Dear Bekaert colleague,

At Bekaert, we relentlessly pursue to be the preferred supplier for our steel wire products and solutions, by continuously delivering superior value to our customers around the world. It is our aspiration to do this better together.

better together is a summarized expression of how we see Bekaert and how we work together, internally and externally.

better together also embodies our Values, which are the DNA of our company:

• We act with integrity

Acting with integrity reflects our commitment - as a company and as individuals - to the highest standards of business ethics and legal compliance. We will never compromise our integrity.

We earn trust

Mutual trust and respect are the cornerstone for working together in a sustainable way. It means we can rely on the integrity, ability and strength of each other.

We are irrepressible!

Being irrepressible! expresses our passion and boundless energy to always achieve more, to always grow, and to be the best in whatever we do. We know how to deal with change and to move forward better and stronger, whatever comes our way.

These values which are ingrained in our culture, are the fundamentals of the Bekaert Code of Conduct. The Code explains our commitments and expectations towards stakeholders and provides guidance for employees and everyone who works on our behalf.

Moreover, working together in a no-harm-to-anyone work environment, we will be able to build sustainable growth, create value for all our stakeholders and collectively contribute to the future of our Group, *better together.*



OSWALD SCHMID CEO

OUR VALUES AND MISSION





We are a company with strong values that everybody should embrace.

These values connect us all.

They make everybody feel part of the team, of One Bekaert.





Our mission is laid down in Bekaert's Goal Statement for the Heart:

DRIVE VALUE CREATION THROUGH A ONE BEKAERT TEAM WITH THE PASSION TO WIN, OPERATING IN A NO-HARM-TO-ANYONE WORKING ENVIRONMENT.

KEY LEADERSHIP BEHAVIORS



OUR 8 KEY BEKAERT LEADERSHIP BEHAVIORS



I focus on the external customer.

- I put the focus on creating superior value for the external customer
- I put the external customer and the market at the core of our decision making and our actions



I seek to excel.

- I challenge the status quo, I set bold objectives and I deliver
- I ask for feedback and I act upon it to further improve
- I support others to excel



I work together.

- I practice highly effective collaboration and team work
- I engage others and I create commitment



I seize empowerment and empower others.

- I take responsibility and I assume authority and accountability for my role
- I communicate the company priorities and initiatives clearly to my team
- In order to drive speed and agility, I empower my team with responsibility, authority and accountability and I
 ensure that people are able and ready for it



I simplify.

- I focus on what adds value and I cut the crap; I am ruthless in attacking needless complexity
- I make sure roles and responsibilities, objectives and priorities are focused and clear



I listen, I speak up and we have a dialogue.

- I seek the input of other people and I listen actively
- I value and I respect diverse points of view and perspectives
- I do speak up and I share my point of view
- I challenge and I am willing to be challenged

I live the Bekaert values.

- I proactively take action to guarantee a safe and healthy work environment, with no-harm-to-anyone
- I always demonstrate respect for people and I urge other people to do so
- I behave and act according to our values I act with integrity, I earn trust and I am irrepressible!



I put One Bekaert first.

- I use the scale and the strength of Bekaert
- I do what is best for Bekaert





OUR EMPLOYEES

We are committed to provide equal opportunity in employment and to respect the rights and dignity of each employee.

NON-DISCRIMINATION

We recognize and appreciate the existence of different values and cultural standards in the countries in which we operate. We promote equal opportunity and do not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment on the basis of age, race, nationality, social or ethnic descent, gender, physical disability, sexual preference, religion, political preference, or union membership.

The recruitment, remuneration, application of employment conditions, training, promotion and career development of our employees are based on professional qualifications only.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

We are committed to create a no-harm-to-anyone working environment.

In compliance with health and safety legislation, we develop and roll out relevant health and safety policies, establish procedures clarifying specific responsibilities, and provide effective prevention systems.

EMPLOYEE COMMUNICATION

We provide timely and adequate information to our employees and foster an open and constructive dialogue.



We will not use any form of forced or bonded labor.

Child labor is not tolerated. The minimum employment age is the school leaving age determined by applicable legislation, but never less than 15 years. Employees under the age of 18 shall not perform work that is likely to jeopardize the health or safety of young workers.

FREEDOM OF ASSOCIATION

We recognize the right of any employee to join or to refrain from joining a trade union. We encourage communication with our employees and their representatives.

COMPLIANCE WITH LEGISLATION

We comply with the laws and the collective labor agreements in all countries in which we operate. When the applicable law, the collective labor agreements, and the Bekaert Code of Conduct specify diverging standards, then the most stringent regulation shall apply.

We support the United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the conventions and the recommendations of its International Labor Organization.





OUR PARTNERS

We deal openly and honestly with our business partners and shareholders, as well as with each community in which we operate.

BUSINESS PARTNER RELATIONSHIPS

We are committed to create added value for our customers by providing products and services that meet their requirements and that comply with applicable quality and safety standards.

We commit to comply with generally accepted business standards in dealing with all our business partners. Therefore, we expect our business partners to adhere to business principles consistent with internationally accepted ethical standards.

Our companies conduct their operations in accordance with the principles of fair competition and sanction legislation.

We strive for a sustainable supply chain. The Bekaert Supplier Code of Conduct outlines the minimum requirements to be met by our suppliers regarding fair business practices and ethics, labor practices, impact on the environment and health and safety policies.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS

We create shareholder value with due respect for people and for the environment.

We conduct our operations in accordance with the Bekaert Corporate Governance Charter. Timely, regular and reliable information on our financial performance, business risks and returns is equally available to each shareholder.

Our financial information is communicated in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

COMMUNITY RELATIONSHIPS

We strive to be a good corporate citizen. We fulfill our responsibilities to each community in which we operate. We selectively support activities and projects in the areas of social, cultural and economic development.

We do not support political institutions and in all our communications we will adopt a neutral position with respect to political issues.

We are committed to continuously minimize the environmental impact of our products and processes and strive for a rational use of resources and energy.

We strive to offer and develop products and services that contribute to a cleaner and safer world.



THE COMMITMENT OF ALL EMPLOYEES

Each employee is expected to act according to our corporate values and to respect all applicable laws, company policies and guidelines in the performance of his or her daily business activities.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Each employee shall avoid – directly or indirectly – conflict of interest situations in relationships with customers, suppliers and all other business partners. A conflict of interest can also arise out of activities outside Bekaert when the employee's personal, social, financial, civic, charitable or political activities have the potential of interfering with his or her obligations to Bekaert and objectivity. Any actual or potential conflict of interest must be promptly disclosed to the direct supervising manager and HR manager.

Full-time employees are hired and employed with the understanding that Bekaert is their principal employer. All employees who combine their Bekaert employment with another professional activity shall obtain approval from their HR manager.

INSIDER DEALING

An employee in the possession of sensitive non-public company information shall not trade in Bekaert securities nor disclose such information to others. The Bekaert Dealing Code contains a number of rules that each employee will need to observe.

INTEGRITY OF OUR RECORDS

Financial and other business-relevant transactions must be accurately and properly registered in the company's books and records. No false or artificial entries shall be made for any reason.

DATA PRIVACY PROTECTION

We respect the general right to privacy of all individuals regarding their personal data. We adhere to all applicable laws on the use of personal data.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Confidential information means any information that is specific to, or owned by, Bekaert and that is not yet publicly available. Each employee must take care to secure and protect confidential information and ensure that such information is not disclosed, neither within nor outside of Bekaert, without first putting in place the necessary safeguards.

USE OF COMPANY RESOURCES

Bekaert employees shall use all information and electronic communication technology responsibly and professionally, safeguarding the interest of the company and its reputation.

All equipment owned or leased by Bekaert and made available for use by employees remains the property of Bekaert. Employees should take reasonable care to safeguard, properly maintain and make reasonable use of such equipment. Moreover, it is the responsibility of the employee to ensure that such equipment is not used in acts of embezzlement, theft or fraud.

DEALING WITH STAKEHOLDERS



DEALING WITH STAKEHOLDERS

DEALING WITH COLLEAGUES

Each employee will behave in a professional manner in all circumstances, and treat colleagues with respect and dignity.

Each employee is expected to perform his or her work in a safe manner, free of the influence of alcohol or drugs.

Each employee is responsible to identify, communicate, and control risk exposures in order to prevent accidents and minimize losses.

Bekaert does not tolerate any form of harassment, intimidation or violence.

DEALING WITH CUSTOMERS & BUSINESS PARTNERS

No excessive benefits, such as gifts, bribes in any form, entertainment or travel or accommodation, or other gratuities will be promised to, offered to, or received from representatives of existing or prospective customers, suppliers or other business partners.

Commercial agreements should always be in line with our ethical principles.

No employee shall support customers, suppliers or other business partners in evading tax, or let their owners or employees benefit from price settlements that are not in line with ethical business practices and with tax and other legal requirements.

Each employee shall comply with applicable antitrust laws and regulations.

DEALING WITH GOVERNMENT OFFICIALS

No government official or representative may be solicited in any way that conflicts with his or her official duties.

No valuable or excessive gift or other gratuity shall be offered to any government official or be accepted by any employee. No payment of any bribe shall be made to any government official or be accepted by any employee.

COMPLIANCE MONITORING



COMPLIANCE MONITORING

RAISING AN INTEGRITY CONCERN

Raising an integrity concern protects the Bekaert community: our company, our colleagues and our stakeholders. Hence, each employee has the obligation to report any behavior that deviates from this Code:

- to his or her supervisor; or
- to his or her Human Resources Manager; or
- to the independent Group Internal Audit Department.

Each employee can also raise any question or report any breach of this Code by email to integrity@bekaert.com, or via the website (https://www.bekaert.com/misconduct) allowing anonymous reporting, or to the postal address indicated at the end of this document (mentioning: for attention to: VP Group Ethics & Compliance).

Employees will in no way be put at a disadvantage as a consequence of reporting an alleged breach against this Code. Each report will be taken seriously and shall be handled confidentially according to due process. More specifications are included in the Raise an Integrity Concern procedure available on the intranet.



Compliance is everybody's responsibility.

Day-to-day responsibility for compliance oversight is delegated to the applicable supervising management.

Any dishonest or illegal practice of an employee that undermines the integrity of Bekaert, its employees or its partners shall be subject to disciplinary measures.

Compliance shall be monitored on a regular basis.

DECLARATION OF COMPLIANCE



DECLARATION OF COMPLIANCE

We will ensure that the Bekaert Code of Conduct is clearly communicated to each employee. The Code of Conduct is automatically assigned to our employees via 'e-learning' when joining Bekaert. In order to assure a sustained awareness and compliance, employees will be asked to read and sign the Code of Conduct on an annual basis.

Employees who don't have the possibility to sign off electronically will express their commitment through an offline declaration of compliance when joining Bekaert.

In both cases, Bekaert employees declare: I have read and understand the principles set forth in the Bekaert Code of Conduct and will fully comply with these principles. I accept responsibility to report to management any breach of this Code that comes to my knowledge.

Declaration card









You are leaving soon for the holidays, and you are the only one in the office with certain specific access to an IT system.

What should you do? There is only one correct answer.

- a. Share my login ID and passwords with my line manager, who will appoint my replacement during my holidays.
- b. Share my login ID and passwords with my colleague who will be my back up.
- c. Request my supervisor to identify a back up person and suggest the back up has or obtains the correct and required access to IT systems.
- d. Leave my password and ID on a post-it on my desk.

- (a) (b) (d) No, this is not correct. The access to the IT systems is personal and passwords cannot be disclosed to other persons, including management. Sharing of individual access rights is not allowed under any circumstance, so passwords must not be distributed through any channel (by oral, written or electronic distribution, etc.). We should also lock our computer when leaving our desk. For additional information, see the IT Password Policy.
 - (c) Yes, this is correct. The user access to IT systems is personal and passwords cannot be disclosed to other persons, including management. Sharing of individual access rights is not allowed under any circumstance, so passwords must not be distributed through any channel (by oral, written or electronic distribution, etc.). We should also lock our computer when leaving our desk. For additional information, see the IT Password Policy.

CASE 2 SAFETY, HEALTH & ENVIRONMENT

John is a forklift operator. During his shift, he has to climb out of his forklift at least 10-15 times per hour. Because of the need for frequent descending, he decides not to wear his seatbelt properly all the time, and instead wears the seatbelt behind his back.

Frank, his supervisor, is aware of this practice and allows it to continue.

Peter, the warehouse manager, notices that Frank does not intervene, and does nothing himself.

In a near miss accident (an incident that could have resulted in an injury or material damage but didn't), the forklift almost tilts over, and John has great difficulty staying inside the cabin. Luckily, he is not injured. To avoid canceling the upcoming and planned celebration for 3 years strong safety performance in the warehouse, Frank decides not to report the case. Peter is not informed of the incident.

Which statements are correct? There are multiple correct statements, please select all.

- a. John should be subject to consequence management for not using the seatbelt correctly and consistently.
- b. Frank & Peter should be subject to consequence management for not having addressed the issue with John.
- c. It is acceptable not to report this near miss accident, as John was not injured.

- (a) Yes, this is correct. John is persistently violating a Life Saving Rule ('always wear your seat belt whilst traveling in moving vehicles'), and therefore should be subject to consequence management. A seatbelt must always be used correctly to avoid the forklift operator being crushed if the forklift tilts over.
- (b) Yes, this is correct. It is the task of Frank, the supervisor, to address violations of SH&E rules. Not addressing violation of SH&E rules is giving the signal that it is ok to violate the rules. In addition, Peter, the warehouse manager, also should also have addressed this topic and coached Frank to ensure compliance with the SH&E rules.
- (c) No, this is not correct. All near misses must be reported immediately. This allows the organization to learn and to prevent incidents happening that could result in serious injuries. There is never a good reason not to report a near miss accident.



Bekaert is a member of a working group made up of global players in the steel industry. During a meeting between the participating companies, a manager of Company A provides details of their future pricing strategy, which aims to partially offset raw material fluctuations for its customer by absorbing some of the impact in the form of reduced margins.

The attendee of Company B, concerned by lower margins, asks whether it would make sense for each company to focus on its core geographical markets – thus Northern/Western Europe for Bekaert, Southern Europe for Company B and Eastern Europe for Company C - and temporarily limit sales efforts to their assigned region.

What should you do? There is only one correct answer.

- I am also concerned about reducing margins and believe having control over a specific area, with no real competition, would allow Bekaert to pass on raw material cost increases without losing market share. Thus, I verbally agree to the structure proposed by Company B.
- b. Unsure about the real benefits of dividing the market, I tell the team I will discuss this option with my management and will come back with an answer later.
- c. Upon hearing the feedback from Company A regarding their pricing strategy, I inform the other attendees that I will no longer be participating in the meeting and leave.

- (a) (b) No, this is not correct. You should excuse yourself and immediately leave the meeting as soon as Company A begins discussing its pricing strategy. Upon leaving the meeting, you should immediately inform your supervisor and Group Legal about the event. Being a member of a trade organization or working group is not an antitrust violation. However, the discussions within such fora should be limited to public information or general industry trends and standards. Discussing sensitive business information with competitors (such as pricing strategies) and/or agreeing to divide markets between competitors are both illegal and are considered serious antitrust violations. For additional information, see the legal awareness presentation on Antitrust.
 - (c) Yes, this is correct. Discussing sensitive business information with competitors (such as pricing strategies) and/or agreeing to divide markets between competitors are both illegal and are considered serious antitrust violations. For additional information, see the legal awareness presentation on Antitrust.



An important customer has very tight specifications on a parameter for a specific new product. The specification makes no sense technically, but studies and multiple meetings could not convince the customer to change his mind.

During the first test productions of the new product, a colleague repeatedly made a manual change to the out-of-specification test results. This adjustment ensured they meet the parameters to be able to sell the new prototype to the customer.

You are new in the manufacturing team at Bekaert and noticed this practice.

What should you do? There is only once correct answer.

- a. Discuss the matter with your Quality department, your line manager, HR, Group Internal Audit or raise your integrity concern to integrity@bekaert.com or via www.bekaert.com/misconduct.
- b. Continue the practice as this is in the best interest of both parties. The customer process and product are not in danger and Bekaert is able to sell without specific changes to production.

- (a) Yes, this is correct. Testing should follow a specific protocol and changing values on a test report is serious misconduct. Changing test reports or falsifying records can have enormous negative consequences for Bekaert in terms of reputational damage, monetary fines, and loss of markets and customers. Falsifying results could lead to dismissal as this behavior does not fit with Bekaert values such as integrity. If no action is taken by the responsible team you can communicate your concern to the Quality department or via your line manager, HR, Group Internal Audit or raise your integrity concern to integrity@bekaert.com or www.bekaert. com/misconduct. It is our responsibility as Bekaert employees to help protect our company against misconduct.
- (b) No, this is not correct. Testing should follow a specific protocol and changing values on a test report is serious misconduct. Changing test reports or falsifying records can have enormous negative consequences for Bekaert in terms of reputational damage, monetary fines, and loss of markets and customers. Falsifying results could lead to dismissal as this behavior does not fit with Bekaert values such as integrity. If no action is taken by the responsible team you can communicate your concern to the Quality department or your line manager, HR, Group Internal Audit or raise your integrity concern to integrity@bekaert.com or via www.bekaert. com/misconduct. It is our responsibility as Bekaert employees to help protect our company against misconduct.

CASE 5 - PROCUREMENT CONFLICT OF INTEREST

One of our main suppliers that you work with at Bekaert has approached you to work for them in your spare time. Since you would be working for them on your own time and not during Bekaert hours, would it be acceptable?

Please indicate the one correct answer.

- a. Yes, as this would be during my own time and would not interfere with or relate to my Bekaert tasks and responsibilities.
- b. No, I should not start or be involved in any professional activity that would create a conflict of interest or an appearance of conflict of interest, meaning a conflict between my personal interests and those of Bekaert.
- c. Yes, as long as I mention this to HR and my line manager and they both approve.

- (a) (c) No, this is not correct. Each employee shall avoid directly or indirectly conflict of interest situations in relationships with customers, suppliers and all other business partners. A conflict of interest can also arise out of activities outside Bekaert when the employee's personal, social, financial, civic, charitable or political activities have the potential of interfering with his or her obligations to Bekaert and his/her objectivity is jeopardized or could be questioned by anyone. While you should at least inform HR and your line manager about close family relationships with suppliers, professional activities for a main supplier will not be accepted. This is to protect your independence and judgment as a Bekaert employee.
- (b) Yes, this is correct. Each employee shall avoid directly or indirectly conflict of interest situations in relationships with customers, suppliers and all other business partners. A conflict of interest can also arise out of activities outside Bekaert when the employee's personal, social, financial, civic, charitable or political activities have the potential of interfering with his or her obligations to Bekaert and his/her objectivity is jeopardized or could be questioned by anyone. While you should at least inform HR and your line manager about close family relationships with suppliers, professional activities for a main supplier will not be accepted. This is to protect your independence and judgment as a Bekaert employee.



When you start in your new role within an ongoing and approved project, you find out that the amount approved in the original Capital Appropriation Request (CAR) is 15% lower than the actual amount needed to successfully complete this project and achieve the goals and benefits.

What should you do? Please indicate the one correct answer.

- a. I allocate the leftover from another project to this one.
- b. I continue and I will inform management later when I need more money.
- c. I do not start with the further execution and inform my management right away, and restart the CAR process.
- d. I adjust the scope, so I have enough budget to execute the adapted scope. No need to ask for a new approval.

- (a) (b) (d) No, this is not correct. Costs should be budgeted and spent per project and are not allowed to be moved between projects. When you know that you cannot fulfil your project within budget and/or scope, you should immediately inform management to align on next steps, including new approvals for increased budget/modified scope.
 - (c) Yes, this is correct. The approved CAR should be seen as a "contract" between the requester (project leader) and the approver (the management) including budget and scope. The money released to execute the project can be used only for the elements described in the CAR Documentation. Hence, costs should be budgeted and spent per project and are not allowed to be moved between projects. When you know that you cannot fulfil your "contract" within budget and/ or scope, you should immediately inform management to align on next steps, and decide on continuation if approved by management per procedure, or cancellation of the project scope. For additional information, see the Group Capital Investment procedure.



IMPLEMENTATION OF THIS CODE



IMPLEMENTATION SCOPE

Approved by the Board of Directors Issued December 2004 Version September 2022

This document is reviewed and updated, when applicable, by Bekaert Group Ethics & Compliance.

Implementation of this Code is mandatory in NV Bekaert SA and its wholly and majority owned subsidiaries.

Joint ventures in which Bekaert has a minority shareholding are strongly encouraged to follow the principles laid down in this Code.

More detailed policies and guidelines are in place to ensure consistent implementation of this Code throughout Bekaert.



better together

Approved by the Board of Directors

Issued December 2004 Version September 2022

NV Bekaert SA Bekaertstraat 2 BE-8550 Zwevegem T +32 56 76 61 00 www.bekaert.com

Responsible editor Katelijn Bohez Corporate Communications

Appendix 4

NV Bekaert SA

(the "Company" or "Bekaert")

BEKAERT DEALING CODE

Rules on dealing in Bekaert financial instruments by Bekaert directors, officers and employees, and certain of their family members. (the "<u>Code</u>")

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 July 2016, effective 3 July 2016

This document is important and requires your attention. Please read this document carefully and if you have any questions please address them to Isabelle Vander Vekens, dealing code officer, at isabelle.vandervekens@bekaert.com.

- It is illegal to trade in securities, or to recommend anyone to do so, if you are in possession of inside information. It is also illegal to disclose inside information to anyone except in special circumstances. Doing any of these things could expose you to severe consequences, including criminal sanctions. And if the inside information relates to Bekaert, violations by you could also cause damage (including reputational damage) to Bekaert.
- Because of that, Bekaert, like all other listed companies, has adopted this "dealing code", which contains a number of rules that you (and, in certain cases, certain members of your close family) will need to observe.
- Different rules apply to different categories of Bekaert directors, officers or employees, and you will need to determine what is relevant to you. Also, some of the rules are based on legal concepts that are technical in nature and need to be carefully considered. The key technical terms are highlighted in blue throughout this document, and you should refer to the glossary in **Annex 1** to this Code for their exact meaning.
- In very brief summary, the key rules are as follows:
 - (a) If you have inside information (being non-public information relating to Bekaert or to bonds or shares of Bekaert that is precise and would impact the price of these securities if it were known), then you cannot trade in these securities or any related financial instrument. You cannot disclose that information or recommend anyone to trade either.
 - (b) There are "closed periods" during which certain categories of Bekaert employees cannot trade (even if they do not have inside information). The periods are (1) from 1 January to the announcement of full year results, (2) the 30 days period preceding announcement of the halfyear results, and (3) the 30 days period preceding the first and third quarter trading update. The employees concerned are, on the one hand, directors and certain senior officers (which this Code refers to as the leading managers) and employees involved in the preparation of the financial statements (which this code refers to as the financial information circle).

- (c) If you are a leading manager, then you must notify any transactions in Bekaert financial instruments to Bekaert and to the FSMA, the Belgian securities and markets regulator. Your close family members need to do so too. Please review carefully the list of notifiable transactions in **Annex 4** to this Code.
- The above is a summary only. The actual rules contain nuances, conditions and exceptions that may well be relevant to your situation. You need to read the full Code. If you are in any doubt as to how to apply or interpret the Code, please reach out to Isabelle Vander Vekens, dealing code officer, at isabelle.vandervekens@bekaert.com.
- In addition, this Code is limited to an overview of the key duties under the European and Belgian insider dealing legislation. It does not constitute a legal advice and may not be relied upon as such. All directors, officers, employees, and certain of their family members are personally responsible for ensuring that their conduct is at all times in full compliance with the European and Belgian insider dealing legislation, and must seek personal legal advice where appropriate.

* * *

1. Prohibitions

- 1.1. *General prohibition*. No person may, for his or her own account or for the account of a third party:
 - (a) use inside information by, directly or indirectly, acquiring or disposing of financial instruments;
 - (b) use inside information by cancelling or amending an order concerning a financial instrument where the order was placed before the person concerned possessed inside information;
 - (c) recommend or induce, on the basis of inside information, another person to, directly or indirectly, acquire or dispose financial instruments;
 - (d) recommend or induce, on the basis of inside information, another person to cancel or amend an order concerning a financial instrument; or
 - (e) communicate inside information to a third party, except where the disclosure is made in the normal exercise of the disclosing person's employment, profession or duties.
- 1.2. **Closed periods**. Leading managers and persons included in the financial information circle may not, directly or indirectly, conduct any transactions relating to financial instruments, for their own account or for the account of a third party, during a closed period, except as set forth in Section 1.6.

The dealing code officer will give prior written notice to the leading managers and the persons included in the financial information circle as follows:

- (a) no later than 20 December of each financial year: of the starting and end dates of each of the four closed periods for the following financial year; and
- (b) prior to the beginning of each individual closed period: of the starting and end dates of that closed period.

The dealing code officer may in his or her full discretion decide to extend the closed periods by giving written notice to the leading managers and the persons included in the financial information circle of the starting and end dates of any such extended closed period.

1.3. **Prohibited periods.** Occasional insiders and any other leading managers may not, directly or indirectly, conduct any transactions relating to financial instruments, for their own account or for the account of a third party, during a prohibited period.

The dealing code officer will give written notice to the occasional insiders and any other leading managers of the starting and end dates of any prohibited period.

- 1.4. **Qualifying trading mandates.** The prohibitions referred to in Sections 1.1(a) and 1.3 do not apply to transactions effected pursuant to a qualifying trading mandate.
- 1.5. **Performance share units.** Without prejudice to Section 1.1, the prohibitions referred to in Sections 1.2 and 1.3, do not apply to the grant of performance share units by the Company to leading managers, persons included in the financial information circle and occasional insiders, as the case may be, nor to the acquisition of performance shares, upon the vesting of such performance shares units, by such leading managers, persons included in the financial information circle or occasional insiders, as the case may be, so the case may be.

- 1.6. **Clearance to trade during closed periods.** Without prejudice to the prohibitions set forth in Sections 1.1(a), 1.1(b), and 1.3, the dealing code officer may give clearance to leading managers and persons included in the financial information circle to conduct transactions relating to financial instruments, for their own account or for the account of a third party, during a closed period:
 - (a) if that leading manager or person included in the financial information circle is confronted with exceptional circumstances, such as severe financial difficulties which require the immediate sale of shares and is able to demonstrate that the particular transaction cannot be executed at another moment in time than during the closed period;
 - (b) for the transfer or receipt, directly or indirectly, of financial instruments, provided that the financial instruments are transferred between two accounts of the leading manager or person included in the financial information circle and that such a transfer does not result in a change in price of the financial instruments; or
 - (c) for certain transactions in connection with employee share option plans issued by the Company, subject to the conditions as set forth in **Annex 6** to this Code.

The determination of whether circumstances are exceptional for the purposes of Section 1.6(a), or whether the transactions fall under any of the exceptions provided under Section 1.6(b) or 1.6(c), should be made by the dealing code officer, taking into account the requirements under the MAR. A non-exhaustive list of circumstances pursuant to which clearance to conduct transactions relating to financial instruments during a closed period may be granted is included in **Annex 6** to this Code.

The dealing code officer will generally give a general advance clearance to all leading managers and persons included in the financial information circle for the acceptance of options by such persons under the Company's share option plans during closed periods, subject always to the requirements as set forth in **Annex 6** to this Code.

2. Notifications

- 2.1. *Leading managers.* The dealing code officer will:
 - (a) notify leading managers from time to time that they are a leading manager for the purposes of this Code and advise them of their duties;
 - (b) require leading managers to draw up a list of their closely associated persons, to provide such list of their closely associated persons and any updates thereof to the dealing code officer and to advise their closely associated persons of their duties by sending them the form attached as **Annex 7** to this Code; and
 - (c) keep a list of all leading managers and their closely associated persons.
- 2.2. *Closely associated persons.* Leading managers must:
 - (a) notify their closely associated persons from time to time that they are closely associated persons for the purposes of this Code, and advise them of their duties, by sending them the form attached as **Annex 7** to this Code; and
 - (b) draw up and maintain a list of their closely associated persons, in the form attached as **Annex 8** to this Code, and provide such list to the dealing code officer.

2.3. **FSMA notification**. Leading managers and their closely associated persons must notify the dealing code officer and the FSMA of each notifiable transaction through the FSMA eMT application available via https://portal-fimis.fsma.be/en/Account/HomePublic no later than three business days after the date of such notifiable transaction.

3. Insider Lists

- 3.1. If any employee, officer or director of the Company becomes aware of information which he or she believes may constitute inside information, he or she must notify the dealing code officer who will, as the case may be, determine whether or not the information constitutes inside information.
- 3.2. If the dealing code officer determines that the Company and/or any of its directors, officers or employees are in possession of inside information (pursuant to a notification as set forth in Section 3.1 or otherwise), the dealing code officer shall promptly draw up and maintain an insider list of all occasional insiders, notify the occasional insiders that they are an occasional insider and notify the occasional insiders and any other leading manager of the start of a prohibited period, and take all reasonable steps to ensure that they acknowledge in writing the legal and regulatory duties entailed and are aware of the sanctions applicable to insider dealing and unlawful disclosure of inside information.

* * *

List of Annexes to this Code:

- 1. Definitions
- 2. Dealing code officer contact details
- 3. Financial instruments
- 4. Notifiable transactions
- 5. Qualifying trading mandate
- 6. Permissible transactions
- 7. CAP notification form
- 8. List of leading managers and closely associated persons

Annex 1 - Definitions

"closed period" means

- (a) the period from 1 January until the announcement of the Company's annual results for the previous financial year;
- (b) the period of 30 days immediately preceding the trading update for the first quarter of the current financial year;
- (c) the period of 30 days immediately preceding the announcement of the Company's results for the first half of the current financial year; and
- (d) the period of 30 days immediately preceding the trading update for the third quarter of the current financial year.

"closely associated person" means a person closely associated with a leading manager as defined in Article 3(26) MAR, *i.e.*:

- (a) a spouse of a leading manager, a partner considered to be equivalent to a spouse in accordance with the relevant national law, or any other factual cohabitant (*feitelijk samenwonende/cohabitant du fait*);
- (b) a dependent child of a leading manager, in accordance with the relevant national law;
- (c) a relative of a leading manager who has shared the same household for at least one year on the date of the notifiable transaction concerned; or
- (d) a legal person, trust or partnership, the managerial responsibilities of which are discharged by a leading manager or one of the persons referred to above, which is directly or indirectly controlled by such a person, which is set up for the benefit of such a person, or the economic interests of which are substantially equivalent to those of such a person.

A list of closely associated persons is drawn up and updated from time to time by the dealing code officer.

"dealing code officer" means the company secretary who is responsible for the implementation of this Code, the supervision of compliance with this Code and who is entrusted with specific tasks set forth in this Code. The contact details of the dealing code officer are set forth in **Annex 2** to this Code.

If the dealing code officer is not present, the chairperson of the board of directors of the Company will act as the dealing code officer for the purposes of any notification by or to the dealing code officer or the clearance by the dealing code officer of a transaction as required by this Code.

"financial information circle" means all employees or other persons, other than leading managers, who, because of their position or employment within the Company, are involved in the preparation of, or have access to, financial information that may include inside information, including but not limited to: the members of the management committees of the business units, the management committee finance and administration, the corporate communication department, the group control department, the group legal department and the regional controllers.

A list of the financial information circle is drawn up and updated from time to time by the dealing code officer.

"financial instruments" means all shares, bonds, convertible bonds, warrants, options, stock appreciation rights (SARs) or performance share units issued by Bekaert, or any other instruments, if issued by, or relating to instruments issued by, Bekaert, as further described in **Annex 3** to this Code.

"FSMA" means the Belgian Financial Services and Markets Authority.

"inside information" means information of a precise nature, which has not been made public, relating, directly or indirectly, to the Company or to one or more financial instruments, and which, if it were made public, would be likely to have a significant effect on the prices of those financial instruments.

Information shall be deemed to be "of a precise nature" if it indicates a set of circumstances which exists or which may reasonably be expected to come into existence, or an event which has occurred or which may reasonably be expected to occur, where it is specific enough to enable a conclusion to be drawn as to the possible effect of that set of circumstances or event on the prices of the financial instruments.

Information which, if it were made public, would be likely to have "a significant effect on the prices" of financial instruments, shall mean information a reasonable investor would be likely to use as part of the basis of his or her investment decisions.

"leading manager" means a person discharging managerial responsibilities as defined in Article 3(25) MAR, *i.e.*, any person within the Company who is:

- (a) a member of the board of directors of the Company or the Bekaert Group Executive; or
- (b) a senior executive who is not a member of the bodies referred to above, who has regular access to inside information and power to make managerial decisions affecting the future developments and business prospects of the Company.

A list of leading managers is drawn up and updated from time to time by the dealing code officer.

"Market Abuse Regulation" or "MAR" means the Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 of the European Parliament and the Council of 16 April 2016 on market abuse (market abuse regulation), as well as all implementing regulations and measures at European or Belgian level.

"notifiable transactions" means all transactions conducted by leading managers and their closely associated persons, for their own account, relating to the financial instruments, including the transactions set forth in **Annex 4** to this Code.

"occasional insider" means any person, who is in possession of inside information, and who is either (i) a leading manager (ii) an employee of the Company or (iii) an individual who dedicates a substantial amount of his or her activities to the Company as a consultant or independent contractor.

"prohibited period" means a period during which the Company and/or certain of its directors, officers or employees are in possession of inside information.

"qualifying trading mandate" means a securities trading mandate entrusted to an authorized financial services institution and which complies with the conditions set forth in **Annex 5** to this Code.



Annex 2 - Dealing Code Officer contact details

Name: Isabelle Vander Vekens (Company Secretary) Telephone number: + 32 56 76 66 90 Mobile: + 32 476 49 49 11 Email address: isabelle.vandervekens@bekaert.com

Annex 3 - Financial Instruments

- A. Transferable securities;
- B. Money-market instruments;
- C. Units in collective investment undertakings;
- D. Options, futures, swaps, forward rate agreements and any other derivative contracts relating to securities, interest rates or yields or other derivatives instruments;
- E. Derivative instruments for the transfer of credit risk; and
- F. Financial contracts for differences.

Annex 4 - Notifiable Transactions

- A. Pledging or lending of financial instruments;
- B. Transactions undertaken by persons professionally arranging or executing transactions or by another person on behalf of leading managers or closely associated persons;
- C. Transactions made under a life insurance policy;
- D. Acquisition, disposal, short sale, subscription or exchange;
- E. Acceptance or exercise of a stock option or warrant, including of a stock option or warrant granted to managers or employees as part of their remuneration package, and the disposal of shares stemming from the exercise of a stock option or warrant;
- F. Entering into or exercise of equity swaps;
- G. Transactions in or related to derivatives, including cash-settled transactions;
- H. Entering into a contract for difference on a financial instrument;
- I. Acquisition, disposal or exercise of rights, including performance share units, put and call options, and warrants;
- J. Subscription to a capital increase or debt instrument issuance;
- K. Transactions in derivatives and financial instruments linked to a debt instrument of the Company, including credit default swaps;
- L. Conditional transactions upon the occurrence of the conditions and actual execution of the transactions;
- M. Automatic or non-automatic conversion of a financial instrument into another financial instrument, including the exchange of convertible bonds to shares;
- N. Gifts and donations made or received, and inheritance received;
- O. Transactions executed in index-related products, baskets and derivatives and which are linked to the Company's shares and debt instruments;
- P. Transactions executed in shares or units of investment funds, including alternative investment funds (AIFs), where the client of the fund knows, or could have knowledge of, the investment composition of the fund, and which are linked to the Company's shares and debt instruments;
- Q. Transactions executed by manager of an AIF in which the leading manager or a closely associated person has invested, where the manager of the AIF does not operate under a fully discretionary mandate;
- R. Transactions executed by a third party under an individual portfolio or asset management mandate on behalf or for the benefit of a leading manager or closely associated person, including but not limited to transactions effected pursuant to a qualifying trading mandate; and

S. Borrowing or lending of shares or debt instruments of the Company or derivatives or other financial instruments linked thereto.

A transaction in financial instruments linked to the shares or to debt instruments of the Company as referred to above, shall not constitute a notifiable transaction, if at the time of the transaction concerned any of the following conditions is met:

- the financial instrument is a unit or share in a collective investment undertaking in which the exposure to the Company's shares or debt instruments does not exceed 20 % of the assets held by the collective investment undertaking;
- the financial instrument provides exposure to a portfolio of assets in which the exposure to the Company's shares or debt instruments does not exceed 20 % of the portfolio's assets; or
- the financial instrument is a unit or share in a collective investment undertaking or provides exposure to a portfolio of assets and the leading manager or closely associated person does not know, and could not know, the investment composition or exposure of such collective investment undertaking or portfolio of assets in relation to the Company's shares or debt instruments, and furthermore there is no reason for that person to believe that the Company's shares or debt instruments exceed the thresholds referred to above.

If information regarding the investment composition of the collective investment undertaking or exposure to the portfolio of assets is available, then the leading manager or closely associated person shall make all reasonable efforts to avail themselves of that information.

Annex 5 - Qualifying Trading Mandate

- A. The authorized financial services institution concerned should be fully independent from the leading manager concerned;
- B. The granting, and any amendment or renewal, of the mandate must be cleared by the dealing code officer;
- C. The mandate may not be granted, renewed, amended or terminated during a closed period or prohibited period;
- D. There must be a reasonable cooling-off period between the granting of the mandate and its execution;
- E. The mandate must be granted for a period of minimum six months and may only be terminated before its terms, subject to clearance by the dealing code officer, in exceptional circumstances;
- F. The leading manager must undertake in writing not to interfere in any way with the mandate;
- G. Transactions effected pursuant to the mandate must be disclosed to the dealing code officer; and
- H. Trading under the mandate must be suspended during closed periods.

Annex 6 - Permissible transactions

- A. The award or grant of financial instruments under an employee scheme, provided that the following conditions are met:
 - I. the employee scheme and its terms have been previously approved by the Company in accordance with Belgian law and the terms of the employee scheme specify the timing of the award or the grant and the amount of financial instruments awarded or granted, or the basis on which such an amount is calculated and given that no discretion can be exercised; and
 - II. the leading manager or person included in the financial information circle does not have any discretion as to the acceptance of the financial instruments awarded or granted.
- B. The award or grant of financial instruments under an employee scheme that takes place in the closed period provided that a pre-planned and organized approach is followed regarding the conditions, the periodicity, the time of the award, the group of entitled persons to whom the financial instruments are granted and the amount of financial instruments to be awarded, the award or grant of financial instruments takes place under a defined framework under which any inside information cannot influence the award or grant of financial instruments.
- C. The exercise of options or warrants or conversion of convertible bonds assigned to the leading manager or the person included in the financial information circle under an employee scheme when the expiration date of such options, warrants or convertible bonds falls within a closed period, as well as sales of the shares acquired pursuant to such exercise or conversion, provided that all of the following conditions are met:
 - I. the leading manager or person included in the financial information circle notifies the dealing code officer of its choice to exercise or convert at least four months before the expiration date;
 - II. the decision of the leading manager or person included in the financial information circle is irrevocable; and
 - III. the leading manager or person included in the financial information circle has received the authorization from the dealing code officer prior to proceed.
- D. The acquisition of financial instruments under an employee saving scheme, provided that all of the following conditions are met:
 - I. the leading manager or person included in the financial information circle has entered into the scheme before the closed period, except when it cannot enter into the scheme at another time due to the date of commencement of employment;
 - II. the leading manager or person included in the financial information circle does not alter the conditions of his participation into the scheme or cancel his participation into the scheme during the closed period;
 - III. the purchase operations are clearly organized under the scheme terms and the leading manager or person included in the financial information circle has no right or legal possibility to alter them during the closed period, or are planned under the scheme to intervene at a fixed date which falls in the closed period.



E. Acquisition of qualification or entitlement of shares of the Company and the final date for such an acquisition, under the Company's articles of association falls during the closed period, provided that the leading manager or person included in the financial information circle submits evidence to the dealing code officer of the reasons for the acquisition not taking place at another time, and the dealing code officer is satisfied with the provided explanation.



Annex 7 - CAP Notification Form

Re: Notification of specific obligations as a closely associated person

Dear [add name],

As a person discharging managerial responsibilities of NV Bekaert SA, as defined in Article 3(25) of the EU Market Abuse Regulation (hereinafter "MAR"), I hereby notify you of the fact that you qualify as a "closely associated person" within the meaning of Article 3(26) MAR.

As a consequence, you will need to comply with certain obligations as set forth in Article 19 MAR and the Bekaert Dealing Code, which is available online at http://www.bekaert.com/en/investors/legal-publications/corporate-governance/charter-and-statements.

In summary, you must notify any transaction in Bekaert financial instruments to the dealing code officer, Ms. Isabelle Vander Vekens and the FSMA, the Belgian securities and markets regulator, no later than three business days from the date of the transaction concerned.

The actual rules contain nuances, conditions and exceptions. You will need to read the full Bekaert Dealing Code. If you are in doubt as how to apply or interpret the Bekaert Dealing Code, please reach out to the dealing code officer, Ms. Isabelle Vander Vekens at isabelle.vandervekens@bekaert.com.

Compliance with these obligations is of crucial importance. A violation could expose you to severe consequences, including criminal sanctions and could also cause damage (including but not limited to reputational damage) to the undersigned and Bekaert.

Kindly acknowledge receipt of this email by return email to [add email address] and isabelle.vandervekens@bekaert.com.

Many thanks in advance.

Yours sincerely,

[add name]

better together

Annex 8 - List of Leading Managers and Closely Associated Persons

In accordance with Article 19(5) of the EU Market Abuse Regulation ("MAR"), NV Bekaert SA ("<u>Bekaert</u>") has drawn up a list of all persons discharging managerial responsibilities within the meaning of Article 3(25) MAR, known as "leading managers" under the Bekaert Dealing Code, and of the persons closely associated with such persons within the meaning of Article 3(26) MAR.

N.B.: In the case of corporate mandates exercised through a management company, the natural person who acts as the "permanent representative" of such management company must be listed under A as the person discharging managerial responsibilities, and the management company must be listed under C as a person closely associated to such person discharging managerial responsibilities.

A. Person Discharging Managerial Responsibilities								
First name	Surname(s)	Date of birth	Nationality	,	Email address	Tele num	phone ber	Position within Bekaert
B. Persons Closely Associated with the Person Discharging Managerial Responsibilities (natural person)								
First name	Surname(s)	Date of birth	birth Nationality				phone ber	Relation to PDMR
C. Persons Closely Associated with the Person Discharging Managerial Responsibilities (legal entities)								
Corporate name and legal form		Registered address		Registration number			Relation to PDMR	